FILED
Aug 25, 2015
Ourt of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

Supreme Court No. 92143-1

Court of Appeals No 71402-3-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

VALMARI RENATA,

Appellant/Plaintiff, v.



CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

FLAGSTAR BANK, F.S.B., a federally chartered Savings Bank; NORTHWEST TRUSTEE SERVICES, INC., a Washington corporation; MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC., a Delaware corporation.

Respondents/Defendants.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

KOVAC & JONES, PLLC
Richard Llewelyn Jones
WSBA No. 12904
Attorney for Appellant
1750 112th Ave NE Ste D-151
Bellevue, WA 98004-2976
(425) 462-7322
(425) 450-0249 (fax)

I. Identity of Petitioner.

The Petitioner is VALMARI RENATA (hereinafter "Ms. Renata"), who was the Plaintiff in the original action under Snohomish County Superior Court Case No. 11-2-05780-0 and the Appellant in Court of Appeals, Division I, Case No. 71402-3-I.

II. Court of Appeals Decision.

Ms. Renata seeks review by the Supreme Court of the unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals filed July 27, 2015 (hereinafter "subject decision"), a copy of which is attached hereto in the Appendix at *Appendix* "A".

III. Issues Presented for Review.

A. Whether the subject decision to disregard the proof of ownership requirement in RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) conflicts with this Court's decision in Trujillo v. NWTS, ___ Wn.2d ___, ___ P.3d ___ (August 20, 2015) (hereinafter "Trujillo")¹ and conflicts with this Court's precedents requiring that statutes be interpreted to avoid rendering language superfluous and to harmonize their provisions, and that the Deed of Trust Act (RCW 61.24, et seq.) (hereinafter "DTA") be strictly construed in favor of the borrower, thus meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

In *Trujillo*, the Supreme Court reversed in part and remanded for further proceedings on Appellant's CPA claims the decision of the Court of Appeals reported at 181 Wn.App. 484, 326, P.3d 768 (2014). A copy of the Supreme Court decision in *Trujillo* of August 20, 2015 is attached hereto in the Appendix at *Appendix "B"*. Citation to *Trujillo* is to this version.

- B. Whether the subject decision determining the Declarations of Sharon Morgan: (1) are admissible for the purposes of CR 56(e) and RCW 5.45, et seq., and/or (2) if so, are sufficient to establish the identity of the owner and actual holder of the subject obligation when the Declarations characterize the nature of documents not attached contrary to this Court's decision in State v. Fricks, 91 Wn.2d 391, 397, 588 P.2d 1328 (1979) (hereinafter "Fricks"), thus meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).
- C. Whether the subject decision affirming the trial court was based upon sufficient proof of Respondents' agency relationship with Freddie Mac to establish their status as "holders" of the obligation with the right to initiate and prosecute a non-judicial foreclosure under the DTA.
- D. Whether the foreclosing trustee violated its duty of good faith to Ms. Renata by relying on an ambiguous Beneficiary Declaration without verifying the ownership of the subject obligation and Respondents' right to foreclose is contrary to *Lyons v. U.S. Bank*, 181 Wn. 2d 775, 336 P.3d 1142 (2014) (hereinafter "*Lyons*") and *Trujillo*, thus meriting review of this Court under *RAP 13.4(b)(1)*.
- E. Whether the foreclosing trustee had any right to rely on Respondent's referral and the Beneficiary Declaration in view of a forged/unauthorized endorsement, thus meriting review of this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4).
- F. Whether the subject decision affirming the trial court's denial of Ms. Renata's request for additional discovery to challenge the Respondents'

motions for summary judgment is contrary to this Court's precedent, thus meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

G. Whether the subject decision holding that substantial evidence of a violation of the Washington Consumer Protection Act (RCW 19.86, et seq.) (hereinafter "CPA") does not exist despite the fact that: (1) the Beneficiary Declaration relied upon by the foreclosing trustee, Respondent, NORTHWEST TRUSTEE SERVICES, INC., (hereinafter "NWTS"), was ambiguous and could not be reasonably relied upon to comply with the provisions of RCW 61.24.030(7)(a); (2) NWTS failed to investigate Ms. Morgan's "conflict of interest" in her roles as agent for Respondent, FLAGSTAR BANK, FSB (hereinafter "Flagstar Bank") and Respondent, MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC., hereinafter "MERS"); (3) NWTS unreasonably relied on an Assignment of Deed of Trust of an ineligible beneficiary (MERS); (4) NWTS unreasonably relied upon an undated and forged endorsement that was inconsistent with the servicer's (Flagstar Bank's) claim of status, either as owner, holder, servicer or investor; (5) NWTS ignored the competing claims by various entities as "beneficiary", failing to verify the ownership of the obligation; (6) NWTS issued documents that were improperly notarized under RCW 42.44, et seq. and materially failed to comply with various provisions of the DTA; and (7) Respondents failed to obtain authority from the true and lawful owner and actual holder of the obligation (purportedly Freddie Mac) before initiating foreclosure and the Supreme Court precedent in *Trujillo*, Klem v. Washington Mutual Bank, 176 Wn.2d 771, 295 P.3d 1179 (2013)

(hereinafter "Klem"), and Lyons, thus meriting review of this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(1).²

H. Whether any or all of the issues set forth above are of substantial public interest, thus meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

IV. Statement of the Case.

On August 4, 2006, Ms. Renata executed a Note in favor of Capital Mortgage Corporation. CP 344-345, 1083-1084. The Note specifically defined the term "Note Holder" as follows: "[t]he lender or anyone who takes this Note by transfer and who is entitled to receive payments under this Note is called the 'Note Holder'". The subject Note was secured by a recorded Deed of Trust that named Joan Anderson, on behalf of Flagstar Bank, as trustee, Capital Mortgage Corporation, as lender and purporting to appoint MERS"), the beneficiary. CP 346-356, 1132-1142.

At some point after execution of the Note and Deed of Trust, the Note was allegedly endorsed by Capital Mortgage Corporation to Flagstar Bank. CP 345. However, the signature on the endorsement is was a forgery and otherwise unauthorized. CP 627-628. At some unknown subsequent point in time, Flagstar Bank endorsed the Note in blank. CP 837-840.

See footnote 6, below.

There was no evidence adduced on summary judgment that Ms. Anderson was competent to act as trustee under the provisions of RCW 61.24.010. Moreover, if Flagstar Bank was actually the true and lawful beneficiary of the Deed of Trust at all times relevant to this cause of action, as alleged, Ms. Anderson's appointment as trustee on behalf of Flagstar Bank violated the provisions of RCW 61.24.020, which prohibits persons, corporations or associations for being both trustee and beneficiary under the same deed of trust.

In September of 2006, Flagstar Bank allegedly sold the Note and Deed of Trust to Freddie Mac. CP 459, 1029.⁴

On April 1, 2010, the original lender of the obligation, Capital Mortgage Corporation, was administratively dissolved by the Secretary of State of Washington. CP 627, 1156.

On July 22, 2010, in response to Ms. Renata's inquiries, Jeff Stenman of NWTS wrote to Ms. Renata identifying Flagstar Bank as the "servicer" of the loan, not as the true and lawful owner or actual holder of the subject obligation. CP 291-292. No reference was made in this letter of the sale of the obligation to Freddie Mac in September of 2006 or the alleged endorsement of the loan to or by Flagstar Bank.

On July 23, 2010, NWTS executed and served a Notice of Default pursuant to *RCW 61.24.030*. CP 1085-1088. This document was issued by NWTS as "duly authorized agent" for Flagstar Bank and represents that Flagstar Bank is the "beneficiary of the deed of trust," the "loan servicer" and "the creditor to whom the debt is owed." No reference was made in this Notice of Default to the sale of the obligation to Freddie Mac in September of 2006.

On August 11, 2010, MERS purportedly executed and recorded an Assignment of Deed of Trust in favor of Flagstar Bank. CP 1152. The document was apparently signed by Sharon Morgan as "Vice President" of MERS in Oakland County, Michigan. At the time this document was executed,

It should be noted that this allegation is based solely on the testimony of Ms. Sharon Morgan, which may not be entirely credible, for the reasons argued below. At this point in time this allegation has not been confirmed by Freddie Mac and remains a genuine issue of material fact in dispute.

Ms. Morgan was an employee of Flagstar Bank and was not an employee of MERS. CP 457. Curiously, the Assignment appears to lack a notarial stamp. Again, no reference was made in this Assignment of Deed of Trust to the sale of the obligation to Freddie Mac in September of 2006.

On August 11, 2010, Flagstar Bank executed and recorded an Appointment of Successor Trustee, naming NWTS as successor trustee. CP 1154. This document was also executed by Sharon Morgan, now signing as an "Asst. Vice President" of Flagstar. The Appointment appears to lack a notarial stamp.

On August 24, 2010, Robert Stoudemire of Flagstar Bank executed a Beneficiary Declaration, alleging that Flagstar Bank is the "actual holder of the promissory note or other obligation evidencing the above-referenced loan <u>or</u> has the requisite authority under RCW 62A.3-301 to enforce said obligation." CP 507, 1093. No reference was made in this Beneficiary Declaration to the sale of the obligation to Freddie Mac in September of 2006.

On September 1, 2010, NWTS executed, recorded and served a Notice of Trustee's Sale pursuant to *RCW 61.24.040*, setting sale of Ms. Renata's home for December 10, 2010. This document falsely and misleadingly represented that the subject Deed of Trust was to "secure an obligation "Obligation" in favor of Mortgage Electronic Registration System, Inc." CP 318-322, 1158-1163. No reference was made in this Notice of Trustee's Sale to the sale of the obligation to Freddie Mac in September of 2006.

This is the same language this Court found ambiguous and violated the DTA in Lyons, at page 790, and Trujillo, at page 11-12.

In connection with the execution of the subject Notice of Trustee's Sale, NWTS executed and served a Notice of Foreclosure that fails to comport with the provisions of *RCW* 61.24.040(2) by failing to identify the "Beneficiary of [Ms. Renata's] Deed of Trust and the owner of the obligation secured thereby." CP 324-325.

On December 9, 2010, Ms. Renata filed for relief under Chapter 13 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code in the Western District of Washington. The matter was subsequently dismissed on April 26, 2011. CP 341.

On April 29, 2011, NWTS executed, recorded and served an Amended Notice of Trustee's Sale pursuant to *RCW 61.24.040*, setting sale of Ms. Renata's home for June 10, 2011. This document falsely and misleadingly represented that the subject Deed of Trust was to "secure an obligation 'Obligation' in favor or Mortgage Electronic Registration System, Inc." CP 949-952, 1165-1168. No reference was made in this Amended Notice of Trustee's Sale to the sale of the obligation to Freddie Mac in September of 2006.

In connection with the execution of the subject Amended Notice of Trustee's Sale, NWTS executed and served an Amended Notice of Foreclosure that fails to comport with the provisions of *RCW* 61.24.040(2) by failing to identify the "Beneficiary of [Ms. Renata's] Deed of Trust and the owner of the obligation secured thereby." CP 332-334.

This action was filed on June 2, 2011, seeking declaratory judgment, temporary and permanent injunction of Respondents' foreclosure efforts,

damages for violation of the DTA, quiet title and violation of the CPA. CP 1121-1168. This action was based on a number of defects that were apparent in the documentation relied upon by Respondents in their foreclosure efforts. CP 120-206.

On or about November 15, 2012, Respondents' moved for summary judgment to dismiss all of Ms. Renata's claims, pursuant to *CR* 56. CP 407-408, 511-541.

On December 13, 2013, the trial court granted Respondents' Motions for Summary Judgment. CP 8-11. This appeal followed. CP 1-7.

V. Argument and Authority.

A. Review should be granted to determine the validity of the Court of Appeals' holding that the foreclosing trustee need not have proof ownership of the note before recording a notice of trustee's sale as required under RCW 61.24.030(7)(a).

The issue of the trustee's possession of proof of ownership of the Note herein is the same as the issue that is the subject of review in *Trujillo*. The subject decision relies on the Court of Appeals' decision in *Trujillo* (181 Wn.App. 484), recently reversed by the Supreme Court, in two respects: (1) it claims that Ms. Renata's evidentiary challenges to the Declaration of Sharon Morgan are immaterial insofar as they create material issues of fact as to the ownership of Ms. Renata's Note; and (2) discounts the duty of the foreclosing

It has been Ms. Renata's contention throughout these proceedings that only the true and lawful owner and actual holder of a note and deed of trust has the right to foreclose under the DTA. CP 394-398. This issue was addressed in *Bain* and *Lyons* and is currently before this Court in *Brown v. Department of Commerce*, Case No. 90652-1 (hereinafter "*Brown*"). The arguments in support of this contention are outlined in the Brief of Appellant in *Brown*, a copy of which is attached hereto at *Appendix* "C", and the Revised *Amicus* Brief filed by Coalition for Civil Justice in the *Trujillo* matter, a copy of which is attached hereto at *Appendix* "D".

trustee to act in good faith to determine whether the claimed beneficiary is the owner of the Note as well as the holder, with authority to foreclose. See *Lyons* and *Trujillo*.

The subject decision raises an issue of public importance as to whether all provisions of the DTA, specifically *RCW* 61.24.030(7)(a),⁷ should be so construed and interpreted so as to avoid rendering the language of the statutes superfluous and to harmonize their provisions for the benefit of all borrowers in the State of Washington. *Gilbert H. Moen Co. v. Island Steel Erectors, Inc.*, 128 Wn.2d 745, 762, 912 P.2d 472 (1996); *In re Detention of C.W.*, 147 Wn.2d 259, 272, 53 P.3d 979 (2002); *State v. Johnson*, 179 Wn.2d 534, 546-547, 315 P.3d 1090 (2014).

The Supreme Court's *Trujillo* decision of August 20, 2015 requires the Court to either: (1) remand this matter back to the Court of Appeals for reconsideration; or (2) review the decision in total insofar as the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's *Trujillo* decision of August 20, 2015 and *Lyons*, pursuant to *RAP 13.4(b)(1)*; or (3) consider any issue of substantial public importance on another issue raised herein that should be

RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) and (b) provides as follows:

⁽a) That, for residential real property, before the notice of trustee's sale is recorded, transmitted, or served, the trustee shall have proof that the beneficiary is the <u>owner</u> of any promissory note or other obligation secured by the deed of trust. A declaration by the beneficiary made under penalties of perjury stating that the beneficiary is the actual holder of the promissory note or other obligation secured by the deed of trust shall be sufficient proof as required under this subsection.

⁽b) Unless the trustee has violated his or her duty [of good faith] under RCW 61.24.010(4), the trustee is entitled to rely on the beneficiary's declaration as evidence of proof required under the subsection. (Emphasis added)

resolved by this Court and review should be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4).

B. Review should be granted to determine whether hearsay narrative statements may be admitted under the Business Records Act (RCW 5.45.020) contrary to CR 56(e).

On summary judgment, the trial court relied on "facts" alleged in two separate declarations from Sharon Morgan, to which Ms. Renata took timely objection. CP 387-388. The issue squarely presented for review is whether *CR* 56(e)'s requirement that summary judgment declarations be based on personal knowledge can be circumvented by a narrative declaration characterizing "business records", rather than laying a proper foundation with the production of the records relied upon into evidence.

In her first declaration of June 20, 2011, Ms. Morgan states that the source of her information was compiled by "personnel [of Flagstar Bank] in the appropriate offices and departments of said entity." CP 1023-1030. She never states she has personal knowledge of the information she offers or offers the documents that were compiled or reviewed. Significantly, although Ms. Morgan asserts that Flagstar Bank has mere possession of the Note and Deed of Trust, she acknowledges that Freddie Mac owns the Note. CP 1029.

In her declaration of October 15, 2013, Ms. Morgan now offers a conclusory statement that she has "personal knowledge required to execute [the] declaration' and suggest that she is some sort of records custodian for Flagstar Bank, without so stating or otherwise establishing her

qualifications. CP 457-511. Ms. Morgan never states she is records custodian for Flagstar Bank, only that she is "familiar with Flagstar's record keeping practices." But she did not provide the trial court either the documents reviewed or facts that would establish the reliability of the information provided. See RCW 5.45.020; State v. Smith, 16 Wn.App. 425, 558 P.2d 265 (1976) and State v Kane, 23 Wn.App. 107, 594 P.2d 1357 (1979). Under CR 56(e), conclusory statements or "mere averment" that the affiant has personal knowledge are insufficient to support a motion for summary judgment. Blomster v. Nordstrom, Inc., supra; Editorial Commentary to CR 56 (citing Antonio v. Barnes, 464 F2d 584, 585 4th Cir. 1972).

Many of the records Ms. Morgan relies upon were clearly created by third parties, such as Capital Mortgage Corporation, Kemper Escrow, NWTS, MERS and Freddie Mac – not just Flagstar Bank. Such third-party records must be separately authenticated by the third party who compiled the records to meet the business records exception to the hearsay rule and meet the requirement that such testimony be based on personal knowledge from the third party's records custodian to satisfy each of the elements of *RCW 5.45.020*. State v. Weeks, 70 Wn.2d 951, 953, 425 P.2d 885 (1967); MRC Receivables Corp. v. Zion, 152 Wn.App. 625, 631 & n. 9, 218 P.3d 621 (2009). However, Ms. Morgan did not offer the documents that lead her to the conclusions she reached. The narrative statements in the Declarations of Ms. Morgan were not offered to authenticate any business records, but were offered to set forth her

hearsay version of events acquired from some source other than her personal knowledge.

This is a serious but not uncommon departure in wrongful foreclosure cases⁸, conflicts with Supreme Court precedent and justifies review under *RAP* 13.4(b)(1). Fricks is on point. There the state attempted to prove the amount of money stolen from a gas station based on the manager's testimony regarding the contents of a tally sheet kept by employees, but not offered into evidence. This Court held, at page 391, as follows:

In seeking to prove the contents of the tally sheet, the State must comply with the so-called Best evidence Rule. This basic principle of evidence generally requires that "the best possible evidence be produced." Larson v. A.W. Larson Constr. Co., 36 Wn.2d 271, 217 P.2d 789 (1950) As applied to proof of the terms of a writing, it requires that the original writing be produced unless it can be shown to be unavailable "for some reason other than the serious fault of the proponent." McCormick, Handbook of the Law of Evidence Sec.230, at 560 (2d Ed. 1972). See also Larson v. A. W. Larson Constru. Co., supra. In this case the State failed to produce the document or to make any showing of its unavailability. Under these circumstances the testimony of the manager as to its contents was not an acceptable method of proof.

Even production of the tally sheet would not necessarily make its contents admissible as evidence, however. The tally sheet is itself hearsay which must be shown to be admissible, in this case under the Uniform Business Records as Evidence Act, RCW 5.45. Appropriate testimony must establish its identity and mode of preparation in order to lay a foundation for admission. See RCW 5.45.020

The rolling narrative hearsay from Ms. Morgan was the sole basis upon which the trial court concluded that Ms. Renata was in default, that Flagstar Bank was the "holder" of the obligation with the right to initiate non-judicial foreclosure proceedings against Ms. Renata and appoint NWTS as successor

See McDonald v. OneWest, 929 F. Supp. 2d 1079, 1090-1091 (2013).

trustee, despite Freddie Mac's apparent ownership of the obligation. But Ms. Morgan's testimony was rank hearsay and the subject decision affirming the trial court's reliance on this testimony contradicts an opinion of this Court, justifying review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and, given the number of wrongful foreclosure cases before the courts of this state in which similar testimony is offered by the mortgage lending industry, is of substantial public importance justifying review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

C. Review of the subject decision should be granted because the opinion permitted an alleged agent (holder) to establish its agency by an employee's declaration rather than the words and actions of its alleged principal, contrary to this Court's precedent, justifying review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

No Respondent named herein, except Freddie Mac, has ever represented themselves to be the <u>owner</u> of the subject obligation, but claim, for purposes of this foreclosure, that they merely "<u>hold</u>" Ms. Renata's Note, acting as agents for Freddie Mac. But the only basis for any alleged agency relationship between Respondents and Freddie Mac comes from the Declarations of Ms. Morgan, as an employee of Flagstar Bank. CP 387-388, 457-510. No sworn statement was ever offered during the course of litigation from Freddie Mac acknowledging: (1) the existence of any agency relationship with Respondents; or (2) the scope of Respondents' agency relationship, if any, with Freddie Mac.

Precedent of this Court and other divisions of the Court of Appeals clearly hold that an agency relationship can only be established through the words and acts of the principal, not the alleged agent. *Auwarter v. Kroll*, 89 Wash. 347, 351, 154 Pac 438 (1916) ("the rule is universal that the declarations

of a supposed agent are inadmissible to prove the fact of agency."); Lamb v. General Associates, Inc., 60 Wn.2d 623, 627, 374 P.2d 677 (1962); Equico Lessors Inc. v. Tow, 34 Wn.App. 333, 338, 661 P.2d 600 (1983); Smith v. Hansen, Hansen & Johnson, 63 Wn.App. 355, 366-368, 818 P.2d 1127 (1991).

The question of how one proves his or her status as "holder", "owner" and/or "beneficiary" of an obligation under the DTA is fundamental to the non-judicial foreclosure process where the owner acts through agents to initiate and prosecute the foreclosure. This issue recurs in almost every wrongful foreclosure case brought in this State and is a matter of substantial public interest. The Court of Appeals affirmed the efforts of purported foreclosing agents without the proper proof of agency which clearly contradicts prior precedent of this Court. Therefore, review is merited under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (4).

D. Review should be granted to determine whether NWTS had the right to rely on the MERS Assignment of Deed of Trust and Beneficiary Declaration and whether such reliance violated its duty of good faith to Ms. Renata under the DTA, pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1).

To issue its Notice of Trustee's Sale, NWTS relied on the Assignment of Deed of Trust by MERS (CP 1152) and a Beneficiary Declaration (CP 507, 1093) alleging Flagstar Bank to be the "actual holder of the promissory note or other obligation evidencing the above-referenced loan <u>or</u> has the requisite authority under RCW 62A.3-301 to enforce said obligation." NWTS reliance on these documents was affirmed by the Court of Appeals in the subject decision.

As to the MERS Assignment of Deed of Trust, this Court has held that as an ineligible beneficiary acting without express authority, MERS had nothing to assign. *Bain v. Metropolitan Mortgage Group,* 175 Wn.2d 83, 111, 285 P.3d 34 (2012) (hereinafter "*Bain*"). There was no evidence offered the trial court that MERS ever obtained authority to execute the Assignment of Deed of Trust from the purported owner of the Note.

As to NWTS' reliance on the Beneficiary Declaration, the document uses the same language this Court found ambiguous and violated the DTA in *Lyons*, at page 790, and *Trujillo*, at page 11-12, and constitutes a violation of the DTA and NWTS' duty of good faith to Ms. Renata from which Ms. Renata was entitled to relief under the CPA. CP 507, 1093. Clearly, the subject decision affirming NWTS' reliance on the Assignment of Deed of Trust and Beneficiary Declaration, is a matter of substantial public interest and contradicts existing precedent of this Court. Therefore, review is merited under *RAP 13.4(b)(1)* and *(4)*.

E. Review should be granted to determine the propriety and Respondents' right to rely on Respondent's referral and the Beneficiary Declaration in view of a forged endorsement, thus meriting review of this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Relying on it's decision in *Trujillo* (181 Wn.App. 484) that ownership does not matter so long as the foreclosing party has mere possession of the note being foreclosed, the Court of Appeals ignored the forgery of a necessary endorsement, holding that the endorser's statement that "the signature . . . is not mine" only means that the signature was "unauthorized", but otherwise effective under *RCW* 62A.3-403(a).

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