RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Sep 24, 2015, 12:59 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RECEIVED BY

Supreme Court No. 92143-1

Court of Appeals No. 71402-3-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

VALMARI RENATA,

Appellant,

vs.

FLAGSTAR BANK, F.S.B. et al.,

Respondents,

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Submitted By: John A. McIntosh, WSBA No. 43113 RCO LEGAL, P.S. 13555 SE 36th St., Suite 300 Bellevue, WA 98006 (425) 247-2092

Attorneys for Respondent Northwest Trustee Services, Inc.



FILED AS ATTACHMENT TO EMAIL

I. Identity of Answering Party

Northwest Trustee Services, Inc. ("NWTS") is a respondent in the appeal and defendant in the trial court.

II. Counterstatement of the Case

NWTS incorporates the counterstatement of the case set forth in Flagstar and MERS's Answer. NWTS sets forth the following additional facts:

On July 22, 2010, before the Notice of Trustee's Sale was recorded, NWTS had in its possession a payment history, a copy of the Note with a special indorsement to Flagstar, a copy of the Deed of Trust, and a beneficiary declaration from Flagstar stating under the penalty of perjury that it was the actual holder of the promissory note or other obligation evidencing the abovereferenced loan or has the requisite authority under RCW 62A.3-301 to enforce said obligation.¹

¹ See Appellant's Petition for Review at 5-6 (Jeff Stenman letter dated July 22, 2010 and the attachments thereto.) CP 291-292.

After receiving the letter from NWTS in July of 2010,

Renata did not communicate with NWTS in any way until filing this lawsuit.

III. Argument

NWTS incorporates the argument section of Flagstar and

MERS's Answer. NWTS sets forth the following additional

arguments:

A. Because every "person entitled to enforce" an instrument under RCW 62A.3-301 meets the plain meaning of the word "owner", NWTS literally complied with the first sentence of RCW 61.24.030(7)(a).

Lyons v. U.S. Bank National Ass'n, 181 Wn.2d 775 (2014)

and Trujillo v. NWTS, 2015 WL 4943982 (2015) held that a

beneficiary declaration with the language "or requisite authority

under RCW 62A.3-301" is insufficient as a declaration provided

for in the second sentence of RCW 61.24.030(7)(a).² The

² The second sentence of RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) provides one way that ownership can be proved: a declaration by the beneficiary made under the penalty of perjury stating that the beneficiary is the actual holder of the promissory note ... shall be sufficient proof as required under this subsection. Lyons, supra, 181 Wash.2d 775, 789 (2014).

declaration does, however, unequivocally prove that Flagstar is the *owner* of the note.³

1. Plain meaning of "owner."

The "owner" of a promissory note is not defined in the Deed of Trust Act ("DTA") or Uniform Commercial Code

("UCC").⁴ Statutory interpretation starts with the plain meaning

of the language; the plain meaning controls if it is unambiguous.

Nissen v. Pierce County, 2015 WL 5076297, *7 (2015). "We may

use a dictionary to discern the plain meaning of an undefined

statutory term." Id.

"Owned." To "own" a record means "to have or hold [it] as property." *Id*.

³ The first sentence of RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) requires that before the notice of trustee's sale is recorded, transmitted, or served, the trustee shall have proof that the beneficiary is the *owner* of any promissory note or other obligation secured by the deed of trust. Ownership can be proved in different ways. *Lyons v. U.S. Bank Nat. Ass*'n, 181 Wash.2d 775, 789, 336 P.3d 1142 (2014).

⁴ It is important to note that under the UCC, the concept of "person entitled to enforce" a note is not synonymous with "owner" of the note. See Official Comment 1 to UCC § 3-203. A person need not be the owner of a note to be the person entitled to enforce it, and *not all owners will qualify as persons entitled to enforce*. Presumably, then, the DTA's definition of owner is more broad than the UCC's if the required proof is ownership.

"Ownership." "Ownership implies the right to possess a thing, *regardless of any actual or constructive control*." Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014), ownership (emphasis added).

"Owner." An "owner" is defined as someone who has the right to possess, use, and convey something; a person in whom one or more interests are vested. An owner may have complete property in the thing or may have parted with some interests in it. Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014), owner.

These definitions make clear that an owner of a promissory note has a right to possess, use, and convey the note, but does not need actual or physical possession, and ownership is a distinct concept from control. *See Lynott v. National Union Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh*, 123 Wash.2d 678, 693, 871 P.2d 146, 154 (1994)

("Ownership is different from control").

2. A person entitled to enforce a note under RCW 62A.3-301 is either a holder or *owner* of the note, and nothing else.

The "requisite authority under RCW 62A.3-301" language in the declaration is not ambiguous as to Flagstar's status as an owner because in all possible scenarios under RCW 62A.3-301, the requisite proof is established.

The first person entitled to enforce an instrument under RCW 62A.3-301 is the holder of the instrument, and that is the precise definition of a beneficiary under the DTA.⁵ Whether a holder under the DTA is also an owner of the Note is irrelevant in this context, because any interpretation of the DTA that would find a trustee with proof that the beneficiary is the beneficiary (the holder of the note as that term is defined under the UCC) as failing to have the requisite proof under 61.24.030(7)(a) is absurd.

The second person entitled to enforce an instrument is (ii) a nonholder in possession of the instrument who has the rights of a holder. This is a person who is in possession of the note that is not properly endorsed, but either acquired the note by operation of law outside the UCC or was delivered the note with the purpose of

⁵ This Court held that a beneficiary under the DTA is a holder as defined by the UCC. "The plaintiffs argue that our interpretation of the deed of trust act should be guided by these UCC definitions and thus a beneficiary must either actually possess the promissory note or by the payee ... We agree. This accords with the way the term 'holder' is used across the deed of trust act and the Washington UCC." Bain v. Metro. Mortg. Grp., Inc., 175 Wn.2d 83, 104.

transferring the right to enforce the instrument.⁶ A nonholder in possession with rights of a holder is necessarily an "owner" of the note; it has the right to possession, the right to convey the note, and the right to enforce the note. Important to a nonholder in possession with rights of a holder is RCW 62A.3-203(b), which provides that "[t]ransfer of an instrument, whether or not the transfer is a negotiation, vests in the transferee any right of the transferor to enforce the instrument." RCW 62A.3-203(b) (emphasis added). If Flagstar is a nonholder in possession of the instrument who has the rights of a holder under the UCC, Flagstar is necessarily an owner of the note.⁷

Finally, the third person entitled to enforce an instrument is (iii) a person not in possession of the instrument who is entitled to enforce the instrument pursuant to RCW 62A.3-309. If a person

⁶ See, Permanent Editorial Bd., for the UCC, Application of the UCC to Selected Issues Relating to Mortgage Notes (2011), see also, Official Comment to UCC § 3-203(b).

⁷ See definition of owner, *supra*: An "owner" is defined as someone who has the right to possess, use, and convey something; a person in whom one or more interests are vested.

is not in possession of the instrument, RCW 62A.3-309 explains when lost, destroyed, or stolen instruments may be enforced:

(a) A person not in possession of an instrument is entitled to enforce the instrument if (i) the person was in possession of the instrument and entitled to enforce it when loss of possession occurred, (ii) the loss of possession was not the result of a transfer by the person or a lawful seizure, and (iii) the person cannot reasonably obtain possession of the instrument because the instrument was destroyed, its whereabouts cannot be determined, or it is in the wrongful possession of an unknown person or a person that cannot be found or is not amenable to service of process.⁸

A person that meets the requirements of RCW 62A.3-

309(a) is also an owner of the note; it has the *right to* possess the

note, it has the right to convey the note⁹, and it has the right to

enforce the note. If Flagstar did not possess the Note but satisfied

each requirement under RCW 62A.3-309(a), it would still be an

⁸ RCW 62A.3-309(a).

⁹ See, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. v. Stehrenberger, 180 Wash. App 1047, 337 P.3d 325 (2014).

owner because control and actual possession are irrelevant to ownership.¹⁰

Because the declaration unequivocally establishes that Flagstar was the *owner* or holder of the Note, NWTS literally complied with RCW 61.24.030(7)(a).

B. <u>NWTS had in its possession other documentation prior to</u> recording the first Notice of Trustee's Sale that proved Flagstar was the owner of the note.

Even if the declaration alone was not sufficient to comply with RCW 61.24.030(7)(a), unlike *Lyons* and *Trujillo*, the record here shows that NWTS also had in its possession a copy of the Note specially indorsed to Flagstar, a copy of the Deed of Trust, and a payment history, all of which were provided to Renata by NWTS before recording the Notice of Trustee's Sale.¹¹ These documents alone, particularly a note with a special indorsement to Flagstar, are sufficient proof under RCW 61.24.030(7)(a).

¹⁰ See definition of "Ownership" supra: "Ownership implies the right to possess a thing, regardless of any actual or constructive control." Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014), ownership (emphasis added).

¹¹ See Appellant's Petition for Review at 5, $\P 2$ (Jeff Stenman letter dated July 22, 2010 and the attachments thereto. CP 291-292.

C. <u>The beneficiary declaration cannot be the proximate cause</u> of any injury under the CPA because Renata did not see the beneficiary declaration and Flagstar was in fact the holder of the note when it provided NWTS the beneficiary declaration.

Even assuming NWTS failed to comply with RCW 61.24.030(7)(a), Renata still must meet every element of a CPA claim, including injury and causation. Renata must have raised a genuine issue of material fact that NWTS's alleged unfair and deceptive conduct was the proximate cause ("cause which in direct sequence [unbroken by any new independent cause] produces the injury complained of and without which such injury would not have happened). *Indoor Billboard/Washington, Inc. v. Integra Telecom of Washington, Inc.*, 162 Wash.2d 59, 83, 170 P.3d 10 (2007).

Renata never saw the beneficiary declaration. Unlike *Trujillo*, where this Court found that investigation expenses and other costs associated with "dispelling the uncertainty about who owns the note that NWTS's allegedly deceptive conduct created", the beneficiary declaration here was never actually seen by Renata, she never requested to see the beneficiary declaration, she did not

9

investigate the beneficiary declaration, and, even if it was seen, the declaration could not have created any deception because its contents were entirely true.

.

There is nothing in RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) that requires the trustee to show a borrower the beneficiary declaration, and any claim that this beneficiary declaration somehow caused investigative expenses lacks merit because it would be improper for a borrower to rely on a beneficiary declaration for any reason.

Finally, also unlike *Trujillo* and *Lyons*, Flagstar has proven on this record that it actually held the note when it made the declaration at issue.¹²

IV. Conclusion

NWTS requests the Court deny review.